
 
 

 

Victorian History of Moston 

 
 

Title Watch Lane Bungalows 

Type Land Only 

Date Produced 27 Jul 2024 

Internal Reference E28P 

1840 Owner Lord Crewe 

1840 Occupier Thomas Hodgkinson 

Tithe Map Apportionments 126 & 127 

1840 Area 3 acres, 2 Roods, 9 Perches 
 

 

 
OS Map Watch Lane 1948-1973 

 

 
Watch Lane Bungalows 2024 

  



 
 

The land upon which the Bungalows on Watch Lane were built upon in the twentieth century were at the 

time of the Tithe map under the occupation of Thomas Hodgkinson. Thomas came from the Hodgkinsons 

of Moston where his father Peter Hodgkinson had raised a large family.  

Thomas farmed 16 acres at various plots in Elton with his homestead being over the township boundary of 

Bradwall where he lived on Marsh Green Lane, leased off the estate of John Latham of Bradwall Hall. An 

elder brother John leased Crows Nest Farm and his younger brother Joseph continued the family 

occupation of Fields Farm off Dragons Lane. 

 

 

1840 Tithe Map – Watch Lane 

 



 
 

In 1840, Thomas Hodgkinson didn’t hold any leases with Lord Crewe but a review of the Crewe accounts 

shows that the two inclosures amounting to 3 acrea 2 roods and 9 perches were leased to a Peter Stubbs 

under a lease dated 1st January 1834. 

This lease was a replacement to one issued to William Stubbs, probably the father of Peter and confirms 

Thomas Hodgkinson to be the occupier of the land. Peter Stubbs paid £13 to secure the new lease and 

then had an annual rent of three shillings. He was no doubt more than compensated by the sub-rental 

charge he made to Thomas Hodgkinson. 

 

Crewe Estate Leases DCR-42-11 

 

Crewe Estate Rentals DCR 59-2-22 

Peter Stubbs was a farmer from Higher Marston in Cheshire about 12 miles from Watch Lane but by the 

time of the 1851 census he was living at Oakley Cottage, The Hill Sandbach with a housemaid Martha some 

twenty years younger who was later to become his wife.  

Peter was clearly a man of wealth being able to retire so early and no doubt the income from the 

inclosures helped to fund his lifestyle.  

 

 



 
 

Peter died in 1873 and at that stage, his lease expired, the land was returned to Lord Crewe and a new 

tenant in the name of John Hodgson look over the lease. 

 

Crewe Estate Accounts 1872-4 DCR 59-5-109 

By this time, rentals strategy on the Crewe estate was changing rapidly from the historic lifehold lease to 

what was called a “Rack Rent”. Such rents were effectively on an annual basis at a full market value with 

John Hodgson being an existing tenant on the Crewe estate albeit in Sandbach.  

 

 

 

Crewe Estate Accounts 1882-83 DCR 59-5-118 

It can be seen that John Hodgson also took on another lease vacated by Peter Stubbs being a smallholding 

very near to Elton Crossings in Elworth. The 1881 census tells us he was a farmer of 16 acres, and the 

estate records show he was paying a total rent of £20 per annum. 

John will have been well acquainted with the area learning his trade from his father John who also farmed 

in Ettiley Heath. He may have even farmed some of the same land. His father eventually moved to the 55 

acre Moston House Farm which he worked for some 20 years until his death in 1872.  

 

National Archives 1871 Census  

 

Burials Elworth St Peter 1903 

 



 
 

After John Hodgson died, the lease stayed with the family for many years until about 1913 when it was 

transferred to Samuel and John James Ellison. Samuel was probably John’s father rather than brother. John 

James also lived at the property in Ettiley Heath. It was these two who were named as the occupiers when 

the Elton estate was first put up for sale in 1915. 

John James had two brothers, Samuel who farmed in Winsford and Charles from Oakwood Farm in 

Moston. In time, John and his father moved to Bridge Farm in Tetton. 

 

 

Elton Estate Sale 1915 

 

 



 
 

 

The Elton estate was first put up for sale in 1915 
but for whatever reason, a whole block of land 
and properties in the Red Lane and  Plant Lane 
areas failed to sell. 
 
Three years later the properties went up for sale 
again but this time with a reorganisation I guess 
to make certain properties more attractive and 
create more smallholdings. In this case, the land 
wa sattached to Watch Lane Cottage along with 
more on the other side of Watch Lane making a 
property of nearly 12 acres. 
 
As it turned, the auction for all these properties 
was cancelled when it was announced before the 
sale that they had been sold as a job lot, prior to 
auction. 
 
The buyer we now know was Francis Joseph 
Poole, a local lawyer and businessman of 
Boothville on Middlewich Road, Elworth. 

 

 
Elton Estate Sale Map 1918 

 

 
Elton Estate Sale 1918 



 
 

 

Chester Chronicle 3rd Aug 1918 

 

 
Crewe Estate Sale 1918 – Elton Portion 

 
The whole of the Elton Estate was sold privately by 
Lord Crewe to Francis Joseph Poole (1867-1940) 
 

 

 
 

Francis Poole was one of eleven children of Jospeh 
Poole, a very well known Shoe Manufaturer in the 
town and whereas the business was continued by 
some of his brothers, Joseph turned to the legal 
profession. 
 
In 1897, he married Hannah Foden, the daughter 
of Edwin Foden, the founder of the motor vehircle 
manufacturers in Elworth and eventually settled at 
Boothville, a townhouse in Elworth opposite the 
Fox and previously owned by his father. He died 
suddenly in 1940 of a heart attack shortly after 
being reelected as Vice Chair of Cheshire County 
Council. 
 
In all, the land purchased amounted to some 93 
acres across 6 small holdings and 16 cottages at a 
price of £5,300. 



 
 

After purchasing  Lot 25 (Moss House) and Lot 26 (Watch Lane Cottage), some 23 acres of land was then 

allocated as shown in the following table which represented the position in 1919. 

 
Lot 

 
Property 

 
OS Ref 

 
Acres 

 
Status 

 
Who to 

25 Moss House/ The Croft 142-146 & 168-176 11.38 Sold Henry Lowe 

26 Watch Lane Cottage 147 & 149 2.24 Sold Freerick Cooke 

26 Watch Lane Cottage 166 & 167 3.56 Tenancy Henry Lowe 

26 Watch Lane Cottage 177 & 196-198 5.99 Tenancy Elton Farm, Red Lane 

 

 

Elton Tithe Redemptions Returns 1920-1929 

 

Elton Rates Return 1930 

The next major change to the area came in 1931 after Henry Lowe (1866-1933) decided at the age of 65 to 

sell up and retire. This sale was driven by mr Lowe’s ill health and indeed, this was the reason given when 

two years later he took his own life through cyanide poisening. 

By this time, The Croft (or Pear Tree Cottage as it was then called) was derelict and the property was sold 

to a James Ernest Davies (1896-1951). In the deeds to Moss House, he was recorded firstly as a cattle 

dealer but later on as a builder and it is the second of these occupations which reveals his motivations to 

make the purchase.  

As well as buying Moss House at auction for the sum of £925, in a private sale, Francis Poole also sold the 

two fields that Henry Lowe had been renting to James Davies. From this point onwards, some significant 

residential building took place in the area, free from the confines of planning laws which didn’t come in  

until the 1947 Town & Country Planning Act. 



 
 

So by the end of 1931, the map below shows the revised position in the area whereby James Davies owned 

the areas marked in blue and grey. The main characteristic of these plots was that they were all road facing 

and ideal as land on which to develop residential properties 

 



 
 

 

 
Watch Lane Bungalows – 1939 National Register 

 
OS Map 1937 – Watch Lane 

 

The 1937 OS map 
shows that it 
didn’t take long to 
erect the 
bungalows along 
Watch Lane along 
with the 
rebuilding of The 
Croft on Plant 
Lane plus its 
neighbour 
Springfield. 
 

It can be seen 
from the 1939 
National Register 
that the 
bungalows were 
generally taken by 
married couples 
most of whom 
had families living 
with them.  
 
There was a broad 
mix of 
employments 
giving a fair 
reflection of the 
activity in the area 
at the time. 
 

It appears that the 
original thrme for 
naming the 
properties was 
that of Scottish 
towns though 
some have since 
been renamed. 
 

 

National Register 1939- Watch Lane 

The local newspapers during the 1930s give a glimpse into the everyday of those who lived on Watch Lane 

showing the legal and illegal goings on in the area.  

It would be interesting to know if Mr Howarth’s “defence” in that the rigging of electricity meters was rife 

at the time. Nevertheless, he had the skills (Electrical wireman) and motive (unemployed) to carry out such 

tamperings. 



 
 

 

 

 
Chester Chronicle 18th March 1933 

 

 
Crewe Chronicle 26th Jan 1935 

 

 
Chester Chronicle 19th January 1935 

 

 
Crewe Chronicle 26th October 1935 

 

 
Crewe Chronicle 18th December 1937 

 

 
Crewe Chronicle  

 

 
Crewe Chronicle 29th July 1939 



 
 

 

 

 
Alderley and Wilmslow Advertiser 13th October 1939 

 

 

 

At the end of the war period, there appears to be a few sales of the properties which again show their 

extent at the time, however, the 1940s bought a major issue to Watch Lane and in particular the properties  

after the junction with Red Lane in the form of salt subsidence. 

Crewe Chronicle – March 11th 1944 



 
 

 

Nantwich Chronicle 7th Dec 1946 

 

 
 Crewe Chronicle 12th July 1947 

 



 
 

The 1948 OS Map shows in graphic detail the impact of the salt subsidence with significant land lost to 

Flash Farm along with the devastation to Watch Lane. It can be that by this stage, only 15 years after they 

were built,  two of the properties had already been demolished with others to follow. 

In addition the flash had flooded the road up to Watch Lane Farm making it impassible. 

 

1948 OS Map 

 

 



 
 

 

Watch Lane – Overhead Map 1963 

 

List of Owners and Occupiers 

 

 

 

 

 


